
Town of Swanzey, New Hampshire 
Board of Selectmen 

Meeting – December 30, 2013 
Swanzey Town Hall, 620 Old Homestead Highway, Swanzey, NH 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
Present were Selectmen Nancy L. Carlson, Kenneth P. Colby, Jr. and Deborah J. Davis. The meeting was 
called to order by Chair Nancy L. Carlson at 10:01 a.m. at the Swanzey Town Hall.  Also present were 
Town Administrator Shane O’Keefe and Recording Secretary Beverly Bernard. 
 
MINUTES  

• Regular meeting of December 23, 2013 – motion was made by Davis to accept the regular 
meeting minutes of December 23, 2013. The motion was seconded by Colby and all were in 
favor.  Motion passed. 

• Non-Public meeting minutes of December 23, 2013 – Colby moved to accept the non-public 
meeting minutes of December 23, 2013. The motion was seconded by Davis and all were in 
favor. Motion passed. 

 
OLD BUSINESS 
Bids on purchase of Town 1999 F350 dump truck with plow 
On November 19, 2013, the Board voted to authorize the disposal of this vehicle and set a minimum bid 
of $3,500.  The Town received thirteen (13) sealed bids from the solicitation for bids, which were 
opened publically. Bids were as follows: 
 

Oscar Mattson, Swanzey - $6,518  Dan Zaiger, Wilton - $3,877 
Ethan Henderson, Argyle, NY - $5,090 John Young, New London - $3,851* 
Michael Patnaude, Keene - $4,500* Fred Macri, Rome, NY - $3,851 
Mike Faulkner, Swanzey - $4,130*  Richard Hume, Leominster, MA - $3,850 
Anthony Dubois, Jr. - $4,050*  Greg Bixby, Swanzey - $3,656 
Ted Bangs, Merrimack - $4,010  Tracy Macri, Rome, NY - $3,500 
Gas Motors, Brentwood - $3,999.99*  *indicates bid with irregularity  

 
Davis moved to accept the high bid of $6,518 from Oscar Mattson for the 1999 Ford F350 dump 
truck with plow and to authorize the Town Administrator to execute a Bill of Sale and any other 
documentation necessary to convey the vehicle to the successful bidder.  Should this bidder 
default on the sale the Town Administrator is authorized to convey the vehicle to the next high 
bidder. The motion was seconded by Colby. All were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
Route 12 Roundabout 
State of New Hampshire Representative Gus Lerandeau joined the meeting at 10:06 a.m. to discuss the 
roundabout on Route 12. Lerandeau said that he wished to give the Board of Selectmen an update on 
the status of the proposed construction of a roundabout for Route 12 at the intersection of Lake Street 
and Swanzey Factory Road. No bids have been gone out as yet. Director of Planning and Community 
Development Sara Carbonneau joined the meeting at 10:07 a.m. and said that it was her understanding 
that the State of New Hampshire Department of Transportation is still referring to February 2014 as the 
last date that construction bids will go out but they are hoping to do so sooner, possibly this winter.  
Lerandeau said the money has been set aside by the State and he will have a better idea about progress 
after the first of the year. 
 

Town of Swanzey Board of Selectmen  Approved Minutes 
December 30, 2013 
Page 1 of 5 
 



NEW BUSINESS 
Zoning and health/safety violation 
The Board was asked to discuss zoning and potential health violations at property located at 111 
Christian Hill Road (Map 58, Lot 33). Carbonneau met with the Board on this matter.  In reviewing the 
file, she said that the property was never approved to have a second dwelling unit on it.  It was 
represented as a mushroom growing building. She noted that Code Enforcement Officer Chet 
Greenwood issued a cease and desist order to Mrs. Thelma Stowell on September 4, 2013 to stop 
renting the unit.  Carbonneau also noted that Mrs. Stowell has not submitted an application for a 
variance as requested. While property owners may have two renters in a duplex, by Town Ordinance, 
they cannot have two separate dwelling units on the same property unless they obtain a variance.  
Carbonneau said that Mrs. Stowell has had people living there for many years and is using that as a 
defense.  Carbonneau said she is asking the Board for guidance as to how she should proceed.   
 
Carbonneau also noted that former tenant Christina DuBois is present and that Ms. DuBois has said 
there are life safety issues with the unit and that the Code Enforcement Officer has not been on the 
property to review it.  
 
Davis said the Town should have done something about the situation years ago. Some actions were 
allowed to continue because the Town ignored the situation.  Davis said that Mrs. Stowell needs to meet 
life safety issues, but that it was her opinion that the Town cannot shut her down permanently.  
 
Carbonneau pointed out that in 1997 Mrs. Stowell said the building was a mushroom farm and not being 
used as a residence.  Carlson said the property owner should go through the process and ask for the 
variance and use the arguments she used in the letter.  And she has to meet the life safety codes. Davis 
said if the Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) denies her a variance, it doesn’t seem fair. 
 
Colby said that the life safety issues definitely need to be addressed.  O’Keefe said that Health Officer 
BethAnne Tatro can enter the property if there is a health concern.  Carbonneau noted that there hasn’t 
been a written complaint.  O’Keefe said there doesn’t have to be a written complaint and Colby said 
there have been allegations made regarding life safety issues and that should be sufficient.  Colby 
agreed that the Town should send Health Officer BethAnne Tatro to the property to review whether or 
not there area life safety issues.  Colby said he also agreed with Carlson that it should be brought to the 
attention of the ZBA. Carlson said the situation should be fixed now that they are aware of it since 
otherwise it would seem like the Board is condoning the activity.  Davis said the rental should be 
grandfathered. Carlson disagreed. She said that times change and until you know about something, you 
cannot do anything about it.  Carlson said the building isn’t being taxed as a residence.  Pointing to the 
materials Carbonneau had provided, Carlson said the building is appraised as an outbuilding.   
 

Motion by Carlson to require the property owner to apply for a variance for two rented 
buildings on the property and to ensure that fire and health safety codes are met by having the 
Town Health Officer make a visit to the property and report her findings as to the need for 
correction of any health and fire safety concerns.  The motion was seconded by Colby. 

 
A discussion followed: O’Keefe asked about the health issues.  DuBois said that the oil tank is 
under the trailer, with no access and no meter for renters.  There is only one smoke detector, 
there are exposed wires, and a freezer for hanging meat is still there. DuBois also said someone 
installed two propane tanks outside and Carbonneau noted that installation of two propane 
tanks outside would have required a building permit from the Town, and that wasn’t done. 

Town of Swanzey Board of Selectmen  Approved Minutes 
December 30, 2013 
Page 2 of 5 
 



There was a reference made to renovations to a “caretaker cottage” in 2011 but there is no 
record of those renovations in Town records. 
 
Davis voted no, Carlson and Colby voted yes. Motion passed. 

 
A discussion continued. According to DuBois another person lived in a camper on the side of the 
property while she was living there and there were wires going to the camper from the telephone poles.   
Christina DuBois moved out in August of 2013. 
 
Carbonneau will send a letter to Mrs. Stowell and give her a deadline for the February meeting of the 
ZBA to submit her request for a variance.  
 
Wilson Pond water levels  
The Board was asked by Alan Warner of 201 Old Homestead Highway to discuss water levels at the 
Wilson Pond spillway. Mr. Warner joined the meeting at 10:30 a.m. and stated that he owns Cheshire 
Signs.  He noted that back in September 2013, Department of Public Works (DPW) Director Lee Dunham 
lowered Wilson Pond and soon after a rainstorm, there was 2 ½ feet of water behind his house which 
eventually flooded his basement. Warner said he believes there is an obstruction somewhere on the 
airport property. He said he spoke to Dunham about the situation but Dunham hasn’t gotten back to 
him.  Warner reported that the water level is a foot above normal; after a couple of inches of rain fell 
recently, the water rose 8 inches.  He said he would like to have something done about it so his 
basement isn’t flooded again.   
 
Colby noted that when the airport is involved, Dunham has to deal with the City of Keene.  Warner said 
that he has not had flooding in the past and he felt that there is a new obstruction, possibly beavers.  It 
has been 3 months since the problem was recognized and he spoke to Dunham about it.  Warner said 
his visit with the Board today was to ask that the Board take some action to alleviate the situation. Colby 
said that the Board needs to get Dunham out to the site and review the situation.   
 
RFQ for Engineering West Swanzey Main Street 
Carlson also mentioned the RFQ for engineering of West Swanzey Main Street that hasn’t been done yet 
by Dunham.  The Board asked O’Keefe to convey to Dunham that he plan on meeting with Alan Warner, 
and Airport Director Ed Mattern. 
 
Purchasing Policy 
O’Keefe informed the Board that he has prepared a draft of a new Purchasing Policy and he will bring it 
to the Board in the coming weeks after Department Heads have commented. 
 
Accept unanticipated funds per RSA 31:95-b  
The Board was asked to accept cash and checks as follows, totaling $160.00, as contributions to the 
Whitcomb Hall Non-Restricted fund: 

• Susan Karalekas (calendar sales) -- $80.00 
• Calendar Sales from Town Hall Box -- $80.00 

 
Davis moved to accept the funds as listed and to remit them to the custody of the Trustees of Trust 
Funds to be held in the Whitcomb Hall Non-Restricted Fund trust account. The motion was 
seconded by Colby. All were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
 

Town of Swanzey Board of Selectmen  Approved Minutes 
December 30, 2013 
Page 3 of 5 
 



Request for vacation carry-over   
The Board was asked to consider a waiver of section 12.4 of the Town Personnel Policy and allow for the 
carryover of 47 hours of accrued vacation leave for Police Chief Tom DeAngelis. 
 
The Policy provides as follows: 

“12.4 No employee may accumulate and carry over more than 172 hours of vacation time at the 
end of a calendar year (Effective 12/31/01). Vacation time earned in excess of the maximum 
limit shall be used or forfeited unless the vacation time has been requested in writing by the 
employee and has been denied in writing by the department head. Copy of such request, and 
subsequent denial, must be provided by the employee to Town Hall and accrual approved by the 
Board of Selectmen. Employees are advised to keep in mind that accrual and updating of 
vacation and sick leave balances appearing on paychecks occur after the close of each month. 
Employees need to be attentive to considering the month end posting of earned leave when 
considering whether time earned will be impacted by the carry over limit. As year-end 
approaches, questions regarding anticipated year end leave balances may be directed to the 
Finance Office.” 

 
Chief DeAngelis will have 219 hours of accumulated vacation leave at year end and stands to lose 47 
(219-172) hours unless the Board grants the waiver. A discussion occurred about the amount of time 
involved. Davis said that this action has to be determined case by case.  The Board agreed that they do 
not want to grant waivers on a regular basis. 
 

Colby moved to grant a waiver of Section 12.4 of the Town Personnel Policy and allow for the 
carryover of 47 hours of vacation leave for Police Chief Tom DeAngelis on a one time case by 
case basis. The motion was seconded by Davis. All were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
OTHER MATTERS 
Discuss 2014 Budget  
The 9th draft of the 2014 Town Budget was presented to the Board by Town Administrator O’Keefe.   
 
The Board reviewed the budget 

• Page 1 of 24 – Lower EX Part Time Salaries to $15,000 for Proposed 2014 
• Discussion regarding Elections & Registrations part-time Salaries showing a higher than 3% 

increase. O’Keefe said the increases are greater than 3% due to weekly paychecks being 
calculated for 53 weeks in 2014.  Discussion on Fire Department Full Time Salaries also shows a 
raise higher than 3% because of the 53 weeks.  Davis said that it should be explained to citizens 
because some folks will be asking about that at Town Deliberative Session. 

• Carlson also asked about changes for the Health Officer salary and O’Keefe said he added the 
mileage into her salary. 

• O’Keefe noted that a request from Monadnock Region Child Advocacy Center has come in 
asking for a donation of $1,000. The Other Outside Agencies line item has $3,560 proposed for 
2014 which is already spoken for. O’Keefe suggested that this agency be invited to the next 
meeting to explain their mission. 

 
OTHER MATTERS 
Carlson reminded the Board that seven Employee Evaluations need to be done by the Board. She 
suggested they start with Dunham and Police Chief Tom DeAngelis with forms provided by O’Keefe. 
 

Town of Swanzey Board of Selectmen  Approved Minutes 
December 30, 2013 
Page 4 of 5 
 



O’Keefe mentioned that the Town has received an invitation to mediation regarding an EOE issue – the 
Board suggested that O’Keefe send the invitation to the Town’s assigned attorney for review. 
 
The Board agreed to close Town Hall at 3 p.m. on New Year’s Eve Day. 
 
O’Keefe suggested that the Board review Non-Public Meeting Minutes for 2013 to see if there are any 
minutes that can be unsealed. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
Motion was made by Colby to approve the Consent Agenda, authorizing the chair to sign where 
necessary. Second was made by Davis. All were in favor. Motion passed. 
 

• Authorization for carry-forward appropriations (Supplemental) 
• Letter of engagement with Vachon, Clukay & Company PC for 2013 Town Audit 
• Personnel Allocation Posting memo 
• Personnel Action Report(s) 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
Motion to adjourn was made by Davis, wishing all the citizens of Swanzey a Happy New Year, second by 
Colby. Motion passed.  Adjournment at 11:00 a.m.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary 
 
Approved on January 7, 2014. 
 
 

Town of Swanzey Board of Selectmen  Approved Minutes 
December 30, 2013 
Page 5 of 5 
 


